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FACING UP TO THE PBESENT
In late Spring 1991 the manufacture of com-
pound fertilizer will cease at lCl Billingham after
almost seventy years. With it will go parts
Teesside's industrial landscape, possibly in-
cluding the 'Nitram tower', in which nitrate of
ammonia is granulated on the same principle
as a lead shot tower. This raises the ouestion
of how well traditional industrial archaeology is
fitted to record and document 'modern' indus-
tries, and the often very rapid changes in

technology, design and landscape which they
bring about

The Government bought the Billingham site
in 1917 on the advice of the chemical firm
Brunner Mond, to build a munitions factory
which in peacetime would make fertilizer

Munitions were never produced there, and in

1920 the Government sold the site-two farms,
some huts and land-plus relevant patents, to
Brunner's

Ammonia was first produced on site late in

1923, based on the synthesis of nitrogen,
steam and water gas by the Haber Process,
pioneered in Germany before the war, and
obtained by Brunner's after the war by blatant
espionagel From an early date 'waste' gases
were re-used in other processes, and the
factory expanded rapidly and became increas-
ingly integrated lt also introduced to the area
new demands in high quality engineering able
to withstand the high pressures required in

synthesis - 250 atmospheres by the
1930s-and the need for new skilled orocess
workers.

In 1926 Brunner Mond became oart of
lmperial Chemical Industries. By 1929, Billing-

ham employed over 7,000 people and pro-
duced 134,000 tons of ammonra, and 456,000
tons of its sulphate. Anhydrite, an essential raw
product, was being mined from under the site,
and the Company had built 2,000 houses for its
workforce. The Wall Street crash of the same
year caused the collapse ol the feftilizer
market, and Billingham was forced to diversify,
to oil from coal, and a new plastic, Resin X, or
Perspex, both invented and developed on site
Caustic soda and cyanide were also produced,
and workers with their families moved en
masse from out-dated works in Glasgow and
Tyneside.

The Billingham site still occupies a vast
area, although now with large gaps, lts
workforce is only 4,000, from a peak of about
'19,000 in the early 1960s A number of
structures survive from the 1920s, such as
cooling towers and the huge concrete and
steel parabolic silos built to match the shape
taken naturally by piles of sulphate or nitrate
granules In some cases they survive because
they are too close to existing plant to be
demolishable; others may go soon

There may be a good aesthetic and
architectural argument to have a silo listed, but
sadly not a practical one. lOl clearly is not in

the position or ol the mind to conserve its past
in this particular way Billingham is still develop-
ing-as compound fertilizer making ends, the
new Monomer I plant, at the forefront of
chemical technology, is being erected, To its

credit, staff are at last collating the frne collec-
tion of photographs of the works dating from
the.l910s to the 1990s, and adding to the
collection daily, and an archivist works on the

srte

What industrial archaeology can do in such
a case is uncertain The company understand-
ably is cautious of people photographing the
site because of the terrorist risk, lt is also hard

to conceive a practical scheme whereby even
part of the site could be conserved A pumping
engine, headstock or water mill is compact,
largely safe (no potentially disastrous leaks of
ammonia there), and transformed by time and
our own conventions into being worthy of our
nostalgic and emotional attention.

But such sites, like our tirne, are finite We

are lumbered with the self-proclaimed title of
industrial archaeologists, though we do little to
record current industrial practice. lt is quite
wrong to assume that modern-day industries
are bound to be recorded somewhere or other
As in the past, the most familiar is often the
least documented Future generations, inter-

ested in our non-glamorous industries, will be
denied the detailed account of , say, late

twentreth-century chemical manufacture that we

would love to have for eighteenth-century
iron-making We are lucky at Billingham that the

company is doing some recording, but indus-

trial archaeologists can not easily be involved
lf even a site so central to twentieth-century

industrial history as this might disappear with
little attention from industrial archaeology, and
no attempt at conservation, what will be the

A Portion of the Billingham Works ot the Synthetic Ammonia and Nitrates Ltd., Stockton-on-Tees' ftom a drawing by Keesey, 1927



fate of our computer tactories, our photo labs,

our power stations? How many of our indus-

tries are being recorded seriously?
lf we do not take a more exoansive view of

industrial drchaeology, we may restrict it to a

set number of restored or gloriously derelict
sites We may also restrict luture interest rn the
discipline, and thereby support lor the sites

which do interest us Could industrial archaeo-
logy become just one further passing phase of

the lashion fo; nostalgia, which held sway for

two decades but which will surely soon go out
of vogue? Mark Rowland-Jones

A few industrial archaeologists and organisa-
tions, most notably perhaps the Royal Com-
mlsslon on Ancient Monuments in Scotland,
have already been involved with recording the
less-appreciated of contemporary indus-
tiles-but interest in such subT'ects is tar from
widespread and ceftainly does not match the
rates of /oss. London s power stations, dis-

cussed by Bob Carr in this issue, raise similar
problems. However, real hope ol morc atten-
tion for the chemical industties in the near
future is provided by the formation of the AIA

Chemical lndustry lntercst Group, rcported
below.
The Editor would welcome fufthet discusslon
of the impoftance and problems of recording
and conseruation in similar industries, or,

alternatively, of the arguments for concentrat-
ing scarce resources wholly on more conven-
ti o n al ly ap precrated subl'ecfs.

LOSIilG LONDON'S POWEB STATIONS
Deotlord East power station, constructed in the

1950s, is shortly due for demolition Proposals
for the area drawn up by architects Sheppard
Robson and chartered surveyors Grimley J R

Eve include 33,000 square metres of class 81

business space, 600 residential units, a .150

room hotel, a 2,250 square metre retail store

and perhaps berthing arrangements for pas-

senger ships That so much new property can

occupy the site of just one power station
illustrates the enormous pressures for rapid

redevelopment at London's power stations In

addition a leisure facility is proposed on land

reclaimed from the Thames, which might be a
museum based on a maritime theme Green-

wich Reach Redevelopment, a collaboration
between ARC Properties and Arena Industries

would be a [175 million Droiect on a site

covering four hectares
The l-)enlfnrd F:st Statton had Seven

coal-fired chain-grate boilers delivering steam
at 62 bar, 482 degrees centigrade, to three

55-MW Metrooolitan Vickers turbines In the
basement it was claimed some ol the oumos
were second hand from the PLUTO (pipe line
under the ocean) project Just to the south of
Deotford East oower station is the site of the
world s lirst central power station, built for the
London Electric Supply Corporation by Scbas-
tran de Ferranti in 1889 Power was suoolied to
central London at 10,000 volts AC, 83 Hz (hint -

divide 5 OOO bv 60) ln the south wall of the

Should Croydon B Power Station have been preserved? (see the cover article
'Facing up to the Present' and 'Losing London's Power Stations', above)

present East station red painted arches from
Ferranti's pioneer building can still clearly be

seen
At the site of Croydon B power station, built

a little before Deptford East, there were plans

for a e300 million retail and leisure complex by

the Carroll Grouo of companies ldeas were to
retain the two 300jeet high chimneys as a
landmark and the boiler house was to become
a 600jeet long shopping mall In the adjacent
turbine hall the single span roof would accom-
modate 200 speciality shops The complete
scheme would have provided 673,000 square
feet of floor space Other notions included a

200 bedroom hotel and a bus and coach
station,

However, despite these plans to re-use the
Croydon B power statron main building, it was
demolished at short notice before English

Heritage had time to pay a visit (see The Daily
Telegraph 2 February 1991) and the site is now
to be used by an IKEA furniture store. ln late

February only the chimneys and east wall of
the power station remained, with considerable
metal wreckage to the west SAVE and the
Thirties Society had campaigned to have the
building listed

Croydon B power station had eight Simon

Carves pulverised fuel coal-fired boilers deliver-
ing steam at 4.1 bar, 454 degrees centigrade, to
four Metropolitan Vickers turbo-generators
which produced 52 5 l\/W each at 12 kilovolts
There were also gas turbine generating sets for

rapro Increases In oul-
put The building was
steel framed, faced
with good quality
brickwork, and the
roofs were of steel
lattice-girder construc-
tion Particular care
was taken by the
architect, Robert Atkin-
son, to ensure that the
external appearance of
the stataon was appro-
nriata far tha er rr-

rounding, partly resi-
dential area For in-
stance, on delivery
coal was dropped into
a nit hana.lh tha

station and carried
to the top via internal
bucket lifts instead of
the usual external con-
veyors. Coal arrived by
rail and the power
station had its own
fleet of steam and die-
sel shunting locomo-
tives

Acton Lane power
station in Harlesden is

likely to suffer a fate

srmilar to other London stations. lt was one of

the last CEGB stations to retain steam railway

locomotives to handle incoming coal trains The

last two locomotives were both outside-cylinder
0-4-0 saddle tanksr Llttle Bartord was built in
1939 by Andrew Barclay's Caledonia Works,

Kilmarnock (no 2069), and ED3 Birkenhead
was built by Robert Stephenson and HaMhorns
Ltd in 1948 at their Newcastle upon Tyne works
(no 7386) The name Little Bartord originated
from the power station of that name in

Bedfordshrre. The locomotive is now preserved

at the Foxfield Light Railway, near Stoke-

on-Trent. ED3 Birkenhead is at Southall motive

power depot lust to the south east of the
station,

CEGB Acton Lane was built iust after

Deptford East. In the power station itself seven

chain-grate coal{ired boilers supplied steam at

41 bat, 454 degrees centigrade, to five 31-MW

Richardson Westgarth turbines The generating

sets were commissioned from 1954 to 1958

The turbine hall has a precast ferro-concrete
frame rather than one of steel, which was
exoensive at the time of construction due to
shortages Like Croydon B, Acton Lane had

cooling towers, unnecessary at the Thames-
side sites The latter had the additional
advantage of direct delivery of seaborne coal

The first generating station at Acton Lane,

Willesden power station, was built for the
Metropolitan Electric Supply Company in 1899

on a nine acre site Part of this original site is
incorporated in the present 16 acre power

station site. At first, three vertical compound
marine{ype steam engines drove directly the
two-phase 1 5-MW alternators, producing elec-
tricity at 500 volts, 60 Hz, Ownership was
transferred to the London Power Company in

1927 and following installation of new plant the

final capacity of the station was 155 MW by the
time of closure in 1964

At Battersea things seem still to be

dragging on, but outline approval for redevelop-
ment on sites near the power station has been
granted (see lhe Evening Standard, 30 July

1990) In recent years only the B station at

Battersea has been generating From 1954, six
pulverised fuel coal-fired boilers supplied steam
at either 41 bat, 427 degrees centigrade, or 93

bar, 510 degrees centigrade, to four Metropoli-
tan Vickers turbines or a 6-MW Richardson
Westgarth turbine, The Metropolitan Vickers

turbines had powers of 1 35 MW (two), 60 MW

and 100 MW The magnificent Egyptianesque A
station control room at Battersea is reported to
be safely secure, at least for the time being

Power stations of the type described above,

built from around the end of World War ll,

supplied 33 kV for local use and during peak
periods 132 kV to the National Grid The

mixture of sizes and manufacturers for Dlant in

London power stations of this period is

reminiscent of British Railways' dieselisation

2 programme RJM Carr
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DISCOYERING TI{E LIOI{ SALT WORKS
Continuing examination ol the Lion Salt Works

site over the last twelve months as part of the
project for the restoration of the works has

discovered new documents relating the story
its former activity, An office letters book was
found on a beam in the blacksmith's shed. The
book lists all corresoondence to and from the
works from July to November 1911. Also from
the smithy, the remains of a diary dated 1896
gives names of nanow boats delivering coal to
the Thomoson's Sunbeam Works at Wincham,

From the attic of the small manager's
office, two bundles of papers are now being
studied The tirst contarned invoices for goods

supplied to the works in 1910, the second
letters sent from the Thompsons' Liverpool

office between 
.1905 and .l90B. The letters when

studied in association with the surviving

account ledgers, deeds and correspondence
will provide a detailed analysis of the trading
practices of a small tamily salt business.

Between 1914 and 1918 salt was shipped to
over seventy railway stations as far afield as

Glasgow, Aberystwyth, Grimsby and Bristol

During the same period the pattern of coal
supply became increasingly varied, and numer-
ous collieries orovided fuel for the furnaces

The accounts and letters refer to 9.1 named
narrow boats shipping salt, coal and other
commodities to and from the works They
provide a great deal of information about the

distribution of salt from the works to Liverpool

and Manchester via the Anderton Boat Lift.

Overseas exports included shipments to
Guatemala, Alrica and Noumea, French Cale-

col{FEBEilCE COI{VERSION
AIA members who attended the .1989 

AIA

Annual Conference in West Yorkshire will

remember the warehouse on the Ramsden's
Canal that they saw every time they hopped on
or off a coach at the conference venue,

Huddersfield Polytechnic The Aspley Basin

canal warehouse, built in 1780, has now been

converted into flats, and photographs of them
have been sent to the Bulletin by Bob Cooper

The warehouse was in an extremely

dangerous state at the time of the conference
and looked as though it might not survive a

hard wrnter. However work on conversion
started soon after the conference. lt is well

worth comparing the appearance oJ the build-
ing now with how it looked before conversion
(pictured on page 21 of the West Yorkshire

conference guide). lt can be argued that some
of the character of the building has unneces-
sarily been lost, for example by inserting
concrete and steel balconies at the loading
doors instead of wooden ones like the ori-
ginals, by running drainpipes down the decora-
tive quoins at the corners of the building, and

by inserting more new wandows than were
strictly necessary. Nevertheless, it is satisfying
to see that the building has been saved in

some form, when it would otherwise almost
certainly have disappeared. Perhaps we can
also learn from consecutive examples, and one

day historic buildings will be converted to new

uses whilst losing as little of their character as
possible

A Giant felled: Croydon B Power Station during demolition in February 1991 - see opposite Photo: R J M cail

donia Metal stencils for labelling salt sacks to
these destinations were found in the smithy

On the oractical front work has been

carried out on the horizontal steam engine
which drove the brine pump lt is hoped to
repair the piston later in the year, and to power
it by compressed air Research into the engine
is continuing as it does not have a manufac-
turer's name cast into the base plate Servicing
and parts are known to have been supplied by

the firm Marcus Allan of Manchester in 1910

Upon the formation of the Lion Salt Works
Trust a development plan for the restoration of
the works will be oublished In the meantime a

small exhibition has been produced for on-site
descriotion and interoretation, Visitors to the
site will see the first stages of a unique project

Andrew Fielding, Proiect Officer, Lion SaltWorks

CHEIIICAL I]IDUSTRY GROUP
David Tomlin and Patrick Graham are keen to
revive the AIA's Chemical Industry Group after

a lapse of several years. They hope there are

sufficient people interested in the history and
industrial archaeology of the chemical industry
to support a small inJormal group Membership
will be open to all whether or not they belong
to the AIA

The Group is expected to operaie mainly by

the distribution of communications and docu-
ments lo group members together with the
holding of formal meetings where and when it

is practical. lt is intended to hold an inlormal
meeting during the AIA Annual Conference this
year at Dudley There will not be a fixed

subscription, but members will be expected to
defray postage and reprographic costs which
arise Anyone interested in the Group should
contact David Tomlin, 36 Redcar Road East,
South Bank, Middlesborough, Cleveland, T56
6YP or Patrick Graham, Flat 16, 66 Shepherds
Hill, London NO sRN g0B1 348 3212 3


